Filed 06-14-2022

Page 1 of 30

FILED 06-14-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III CASE NO. 2021AP001543/2022AP000307

In the Matter of the Refusal of Samuel G. Sharpe:

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SAMUEL G. SHARPE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DECISIONS AND ORDERS ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR ST. CROIX COUNTY, CASE NO. 19 TR 632, THE HONORABLE SCOTT R. NEEDHAM, PRESIDING

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ROBERT PAUL MAXEY State Bar No. 1112746

NELSON DEFENSE GROUP

811 First Street, Ste. 101 Hudson, WI 54016 (715) 386-2694 robert@nelsondefensegroup.com

Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Whether Deputy Schaeppi violated the three-part test established in *County of Ozaukee v. Quelle*¹ thus requiring dismissal of the refusal proceeding?

The Trial Court Answered: "No."

II. Whether Wisconsin's Ignition Interlock Device statutory scheme violates the dormant Commerce Clause?

The Trial Court Answered: "No."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Sharpe does not request oral argument, as the briefs should adequately address the issues in this case. Sharpe does recommend that the opinion be published because this case presents an opportunity for the Court to address the constitutionality of Wisconsin's Ignition Interlock Device statutory scheme. Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23(1)(a)1.

¹ County of Ozaukee v. Quelle, 198 Wis. 2d 269, 542 N.W.2d 196 (Ct. App. 1995).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 16, 2019, Sharpe was issued a Notice of Intent to Revoke Operating Privilege. (1). Sharpe, by counsel, timely demanded a refusal hearing on February 26, 2019. (3). A refusal hearing was held on February 12, 2021, during which Sharpe and Deputy Chase DuRand, of the St. Croix County Sheriff's Department, testified. (51:1, 2). Additionally, portions of the video recording of the deputy's body cam were admitted into the record. (51:3–4; 127). A copy of the Informing the Accused form ("ITAF") was also admitted into the record. (51:19; 121).

On February 16, 2019, DuRand arrested Sharpe for operating a motor vehicle while impaired ("OWI"). (51:5–6, 17). Following Sharpe's arrest, DuRand contacted St. Croix County Dispatch who advised that at the time of this arrest, Sharpe's most recent OWI arrest had occurred in 2004. (51:22–23; 127 at 00:00:54–00:01:29). Sharpe also had a prior implied consent violation from 2004. DuRand consulted Deputy Mitchell Schaeppi ("Schaeppi"), who was also at the scene. (51:25; 127 at 00:02:00–00:02:17). Ultimately, Schaeppi advised DuRand that an implied consent conviction is not a countable conviction under Wis. Stat. § 343.307. (51:25–26; 127 at 00:02:07–00:02:15).

DuRand again contacted dispatch for further clarification on Sharpe's prior OWI-related arrests. (127 at 00:06:30–00:09:10). Dispatch was unable to provide any additional information. (*Id.*)

Schaeppi then asked Sharpe directly whether he had ever been previously arrested for an OWI-related offense. (127 at 00:00:01–00:00:15). Sharpe responded, "Maybe a long time." (127 at 00:00:15–00:00:20). When asked by Schaeppi whether he had been arrested and convicted for an OWI-related offense in 2003 or 2004, Sharpe stated, "Yes, I was. ... I think so if I remember correct. It was a long time ago." (127 at 00:00:32–00:01:12). DuRand and Schaeppi ultimately concluded it had been 10 years since Sharpe's last and only other OWI-related conviction, and

therefore Sharpe's OWI arrest in this case would be counted as a first offense. (127 at 00:02:14–00:02:41).

Schaeppi then advised Sharpe that his OWI arrest in this case would be treated as a first offense: "So it has been 10 years. In the State of Wisconsin, it is your first offense again." (51:29; 127 at 00:01:08–00:01:15).

DuRand read Sharpe the Informing the Accused form ("ITAF"). (51:18). Notably, the ITAF says nothing about the accused's prior convictions or the potential punishment for the current offense, but merely states the offense(s) for which the accused is being arrested. (121). Because DuRand believed Sharpe would only be charged with a first offense, he asked Sharpe to submit to an evidentiary breath test.² (51:19–21). Sharpe refused.

Sharpe refused because he was told the OWI would only be charged as a first offense. (51:19–20, 32, 36). Sharpe testified that at the time he refused to take the breath test he knew that the more prior OWI convictions a person had, the harsher the penalties for subsequent offenses. (51:32–33). Sharpe was aware of this enhanced penalty scheme because he had previously been convicted of as second offense OWI in Minnesota. (51:33). He knew that a third offense OWI would likewise be treated more severely than a first OWI offense in Wisconsin. (51:33).

The information Schaeppi provided was the "biggest factor" which "absolutely" affected Sharpe's decision to refuse the requested evidentiary breath test. (51:36, 39). Sharpe decided he could stomach the penalties for a first offense refusal because he "didn't want the officer to have more evidence against" him. (51:36-37; 57:2). Had he been correctly advised that he was in fact being arrested for an OWI third offense, he would have "definitely" considered consenting to the evidentiary breath test and taken his arrest "more seriously" knowing that a third OWI offense refusal entails more severe penalties than a first offense. (51:37). The

² The St. Croix County Sheriff's Department's policy is to only request evidentiary blood tests on second and subsequent OWI offenses. (51:23).

State of Wisconsin ultimately prosecuted Sharpe's arrest in this case as an OWI third offense. (51:21).

Following testimony, the circuit court directed the parties to submit briefs on whether Deputy Schaeppi complied with the informational provisions of Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4). (51:35–36).

Postconviction briefs were filed and on April 21, 2021, the circuit court entered a written decision and order. (55 (A:3)). The circuit court found that while Sharpe had satisfied the first and second *Quelle* prongs, he failed to satisfy the third prong of the inquiry. He did not prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the erroneous information Schaeppi³ provided contributed to his refusal to submit to chemical testing. (55:5 (A:7)). The circuit court reasoned it was "hard pressed to understand that [the deputies'] decision to seek breath as compared to blood was misleading and affected Sharpe's ability to make a choice about testing." (55:5 (A:7)). In the court's opinion, "[i]t is purely speculative that, had a blood test been offered, Sharpe would have jumped at a chance and submitted to it." (55:6 (A:8)). "To suggest that had the deputy requested blood for an alleged third offense would have resulted in consent is incredible." The court further noted that "Sharpe was certainly in a position to know his driving history." (55:6 (A:8)). "Pure speculation is not synonymous with a preponderance of evidence, which is the applicable burden of proof that Sharpe must carry." (55:6 (A:8)). The circuit court revoked Sharpe's operating privilege under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(10) and ordered him to comply with the assessment and driver safety plan as well. (55:6 (A:8)).

On May 6, 2021, Sharpe filed a motion requesting the circuit court reconsider, and alternatively, correct its April 21 decision and order under the reconsideration principles discussed in *Koepsell's Olde Popcorn Wagons, Inc. v.*

³ The circuit court's April 21 Decision & Order states that Deputy DuRand was the officer who provided the additional erroneous information to Sharpe. However, it was Deputy Schaeppi who erroneously informed Sharpe that that he was being charged with a first OWI offense. (51:29; 127 at 00:01:08–00:01:15).

Koepsell's Festival Popcorn Wagons, Ltd., 2004 WI App 129, 275 Wis. 2d 397, 685 N.W.2d 853, and *Village of Thiensville v. Olsen*, 223 Wis. 2d 256, 262, 588 N.W.2d 394 (Ct. App. 1998). (57:1–2). Sharpe argued that the circuit court erred in its factual determination on the third *Quelle* prong because the court analyzed the issue using facts not actually urged by the Defense to supports its desired legal conclusion. (57:3).

Sharpe reiterated that whether he took a beath test or a blood test was not the issue for him. He refused because he believed it would deny the police evidence that might be used to convict him in the OWI case, and the price—refusal penalties for a first offense—would be tolerable. (57:1-2). His gambit ultimately paid off, as he won his criminal trial. (57:2).

Sharpe never testified, nor had the Defense ever argued, that the deputies' decision to seek a breath rather than a blood test played into that refusal decision. (57:3). The court, nevertheless, focused on this unadvanced breath-versus-blood theory in deciding the third *Quelle* prong. (57:3). Sharpe argued that this constitutes the requisite error of fact under the *Koepsell* standard. (57:4–5). He also noted that under the *Olsen* standard, the court could further consider his argument and decide the case based on the degree-of-penalties theory that was actually advanced by the Defense. (57:2).

In response to the Defense's claim that the circuit court's order was the result of a manifest error of fact, the state argued that the Defense should have "argue[d] more strongly towards what they believe is a better theory." (59:2). "The Defense wishing to clarify the focus of their theory is not a valid reason under *Koepsell* to prevail on a motion for reconsideration." (59:2).

The state further argued that the Defense "does not present any 'newly discovered evidence" as it "acknowledges that 'this Court accurately summarized the record with respect to Mr. Sharpe's testimony." (59:2).

Sharpe filed a response on June 8, 2021. First, while the circuit court used the correct legal standard, it did not consider the factual theory actually urged by the Defense to support its desired legal conclusion. (61:1) This constitutes the requisite error of fact under the *Koepsell* standard. (61:1)

Second, no error of fact is required for the circuit court to do justice under the *Olsen* standard, and as such, Sharpe requested the court "to consider its argument and decide the case based on the controversy actually at hand." (61:1–2).

Third, the last *Quelle* prong does not require a showing that the additional erroneous information from Schaeppi was the sole cause of the refusal, and Sharpe did not testify that it was. (61:2). Sharpe further testified "that he would have considered consenting to a chemical test had he been informed that it would be prosecuted more severely than the police promised." (61:2).

Fourth, the state's argument that the circuit court should disregard Sharpe's uncontroverted testimony because it is "self-serving" is not persuasive for two reasons. (61:2). First, the state's suggestion that Sharpe's uncontroverted testimony lacks credibility is unsupported. Second, the state's arguments are likewise self-serving. Sharpe's uncontroverted testimony therefore ought not to be disregarded solely on this account. (61:2).

Fifth, "Sharpe testified, under oath and penalty of perjury, that he felt that he could stomach the penalties for a first offense, having been through them before," and "he would have [further] considered taking the test if [he had been] advised that [his arrest was for] a third offense, or if [he] simply [was] never advised of the severity of the prosecution (the latter being the best practice for law enforcement)." (61:2). The state offered no evidence opposed to Sharpe's testimony and the body cam footage further corroborated his testimony. (61:2–3).

Sixth, "as explained in briefing, both before and now after [the c]ourt's initial written decision, the Defense never argued that the police's decision to seek breath as compared to blood affected [Sharpe's] ability to make a choice. Rather, it was

the police's promise to treat the matter as a first-offense 'pawn' rather than a thirdoffense "bishop" that affected his ability to make a decision." (61:3).

Finally, the Defense did not in fact advance the correct theory — that being the degree-of-penalties theory. (61:3).

On June 24, 2021, the circuit court entered a written decision and order denying Sharpe's motion for reconsideration, based on the reasoning articulated in its prior April 21 decision and order. (124:1–2 (A:9–10)).

Finding that Sharpe's refusal was improper, the circuit court filed a conviction status report with the Wisconsin Department of Transportation on August 18, 2021, which ordered an ignition interlock device ("IID") restriction for 12 months. (72 (A:11); 75 (A:12)).

On September 7, 2021, Sharpe filed a motion with the circuit court challenging the constitutionality of the IID order and the underlying statute. (89). Sharpe argued the statutory scheme under Wis. Stat. § 343.301(2m)(a) is unconstitutional because it fails to provide a means for an out-of-state resident to terminate an IID order, regardless of its length. Wis. Stat. § 343.301(2m)(a) states that the IID restriction shall "extend for a period of not less than one year *after the date the department issues any license granted under this chapter*[,]...." (emphasis added). Sharpe cannot ever rid himself of the IID restriction because, as a Minnesota resident, he is not eligible for a Wisconsin driver's license. *See* Wis. Stat. § 343.06(1)(k). (89:3). Sharpe further argued that his challenge to the IID was ripe for review as his motion "is not based on hypothetical or future facts." (147:1–2). "[The circuit court] ordered the IID and Mr. Sharpe has demonstrated the unfair harm that has been caused to him as a result, that being his inability ever to satisfy the IID order as an out-of-state driver." (147:2).

The circuit court denied Sharpe's motion. (149 (A:12)). His facial challenge to Wisconsin's IID statutory scheme failed as Sharpe did not "show that Wisconsin's IID law is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt." (149:3 (A:15)). "[T]he Court agrees with the State's equally plausible argument that the IID restrictions required for individuals convicted of certain OWI offenses in Wisconsin apply equally to residents both inside and outside of Wisconsin and that the statute therefore passes constitutional muster." (149:4 (A:16)).

The court further found that Sharpe "failed to show that the IID restriction on his operating privileges in Wisconsin ordered by the Court has had any effect on his Minnesota driver's license" or that "the IID restriction required under Wis. Stat. § 343.301 has had any effect on his ability to operate a motor vehicle in Wisconsin." (149:5 (A:17)). "Sharpe simply speaks in hypotheticals and the potential effect of having the IID restriction removed is uncertain at this point which causes the Court to conclude, as it must, that his as-applied challenge fails as a matter of law at this time." (149:5 (A:17)).

Sharpe now appeals to this Court.

ARGUMENT

I. SHARPE DID NOT IMPROPERLY REFUSE TO SUBMIT TO CHEMICAL TESTING WHEN THE OFFICER VIOLATED COUNTY OF OZAUKEE V. QUELLE.

1. Deputy Schaeppi violated *Quelle* when he provided Sharpe with erroneous information which affected his decision to refuse chemical testing.

i. Introduction and standard of review.

A defendant may challenge compliance with the informational provisions of Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(a)5 at a refusal hearing. *See In Re Smith*, 2008 WI 23, ¶ 2 fn.3, 308 Wis. 2d 65, 746 N.W.2d 243. A refusal finding cannot be sustained if the defendant can show the warning process under the implied consent law fails to meet the three-part test in *County of Ozaukee v. Quelle* to assess the adequacy of the warning process under the implied consent law:

- (1) Has the law enforcement officer not met, or exceeded his or her duty under secs. 343.305(4) and (4m) to provide information to the accused driver?
- (2) Is the lack or oversupply of information misleading?
- (3) Has the failure to properly inform the driver affected his or her ability to make the choice about chemical testing?

198 Wis. 2d 269, 280, 542 N.W.2d 196 (Ct. App. 1995), *abrogated on other grounds by In re Smith*, 2008 WI 23, 308 Wis. 2d 65, 746 N.W.2d 243 (upholding the *Quelle* framework with respect to "excessive information" cases such as the one at bar). In this case, all three factors are met.

The interpretation and application of Wis. Stat. § 343.305 to undisputed facts is a question of law that this Court determines independently of the circuit court but benefiting from its analysis. This Court examines the case law interpreting and applying Wis. Stat. § 343.305 to fact situations in which a law enforcement officer has given additional and incorrect information to the person from whom a test is required. *In re Smith*, 2008 WI 23 at ¶ 55.

ii. Deputy Schaeppi exceeded his duty under Wis. Stat. § 343.305.

The circuit court found that Schaeppi exceeded his duty under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4) by providing Sharpe incorrect information found nowhere on the ITAF; that is, that Sharpe's OWI arrest in this case would be treated as a first offense. (55:5). Those words are nowhere to be found on the ITAF. (121).

The fact that DuRand read the ITAF after Sharpe was told by Schaeppi he was facing a first offense does not change the fact that Sharpe was provided erroneous information. The first *Quelle* prong is satisfied whenever a law enforcement officer has gone beyond simply reading the ITAF. *Smith*, 2008 WI 23 at ¶ 78 ("*After* discharging his duty under § 343.305(4) by reading the Department of Transportation's Informing the Accused form verbatim to the defendant, Deputy Sutherland went on to provide additional information to the defendant ... The first prong of the three-prong *Quelle* inquiry is answered in the affirmative." (Emphasis added).).

iii. The additional information Deputy Schaeppi provided Sharpe was incorrect and misleading.

The circuit court likewise found that Schaeppi provided misleading information to Sharpe when he incorrectly told him that his OWI arrest in this case would be treated as a first offense. (55:5). In actuality, Sharpe was ultimately prosecuted for an OWI third offense. (51:21).

The term "misleading" in the second *Quelle* prong was meant by this Court to be synonymous with the term "erroneous," and requires no showing of bad faith. *State v. Ludwigson*, 212 Wis. 2d 871, 875, 569 N.W.2d 762 (Ct. App. 1997). This additional erroneous information misstated the legal reality.

Schaeppi, like the officer in *Ludwigson*, chose to go beyond simply reading the form by giving *additional* information to the accused. *Id*. at 874. After reading the provisions of the ITAF, the officer in *Ludwigson* then exceeded his duty under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4) and also attempted to explain the form to Ludwigson in "layman's terms." *Id*. But the additional information the officer provided to Ludwigson was wrong. *Id*. at 874 n.1.⁴ After the officer read and explained the form to Ludwigson, she still refused to submit to the test. *Id*. at 874.

Like the officer in *Ludwigson*, the additional information Schaeppi provided to Sharpe was wrong and misleading for the reasons above. *Id*. Schaeppi therefore provided definitionally misleading information. *Id*. at 875. On these facts, the second *Quelle* prong is satisfied. *Id*. ("We hold, as a matter of law, that the police officer exceeded his duty under § 343.305(4), STATS., and the information given to Ludwigson was erroneous, thereby meeting the first two prongs of the *Quelle* test.").

⁴ The officer told Ludwigson that the normal penalty for refusing to submit to a chemical test is a one-year revocation of driving privileges. This was incorrect as Ludwigson had a prior OWI conviction and her revocation period would be two years. The officer also told Ludwigson that if she was not satisfied with her initial test, she could request an alternative test at her own expense. This was also incorrect. Under Wis. Stats. §§ 343.305(2) and (5), law enforcement agencies are required to administer an alternative chemical test at their own expense.

iv. The incorrect and misleading information affected Sharpe's ability to make his decision regarding chemical testing.

The misleading information Schaeppi provided affected Sharpe's ability to make an informed decision about chemical testing. *See Smith*, 2008 WI 23 at ¶ 85 (defendant must show that misleading information contributed to defendant's decision to refuse chemical testing). Again, Sharpe testified that Schaeppi's claim that Sharpe's OWI arrest in this case would be treated as a first offense was the "[b]iggest factor" in his decision to refuse the evidentiary breath test. (51:39).

Importantly, this Court has "concluded that to obtain substantial compliance [with the procedure established by Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4)], *the officer must not understate the penalties for either refusal to take the test or taking the test and obtaining an inappropriate test result.*" *State v. Sutton*, 177 Wis. 2d 709, 713–15, 503 N.W.2d 326 (Ct. App. 1993) (citing *State v. Wilke*, 152 Wis. 2d 243, 249–250, 448 N.W.2d 13 (Ct. App. 1989)).

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