Filed 09-12-2022

Page 1 of 21

FILED 09-12-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2021AP001543/2022AP000307

In the Matter of the Refusal of Samuel G. Sharpe

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SAMUEL G. SHARPE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DECISIONS AND ORDERS ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR ST. CROIX COUNTY, CASE NO. 2019 TR 632, THE HONORABLE SCOTT R. NEEDHAM, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

AARON M. DAMRAU Assistant District Attorney State Bar #1094312

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. **SERGEANT** DURAND **COMPLIED** WITH THE INFORMATION PROVISIONS OF WIS. STAT. § 343.305(4) AND SHARPE FAILED TO PROVE BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE THAT THE **ERRONEOUS INFORMATION** PROVIDED BY DEPUTIES CONTRIBUTED TO HIS REFUSAL TO SUBMIT TO CHEMICAL TESTING

A. Introduction and Standard of Review.

Sharpe argues that the additional information provided by Deputy Schaeppi regarding the number of prior OWIs contributed to his refusal and that this would be counted as a first offense. He claims that this "robbed" him of his ability to make a free and unconstrained choice on whether to comply with Wisconsin's implied consent law. (Brief of Defendant-Appellant at 20). For the reasons set-forth below, the State requests that this Court affirm the trial court's order and findings that Sharpe improperly refused to submit to chemical testing after an OWI arrest.

The application of the implied consent statute to a set of facts is a question of law reviewed by this Court *de novo*. *State v. Rydeski*, 214 Wis. 2d 101, 106, 571 N.W.2d 417, 419 (Ct. App. 1997). "Findings of fact shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses." Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2).

B. Sharpe's refusal was unlawful and the additional information provided by law enforcement did not contribute to his refusal.

Wisconsin's implied consent law reads:

Any person... who drives or operates a motor vehicle upon the public highways of this state ... is deemed to have given consent to one or more tests of his or her breath, blood or urine, for the purpose of determining the presence or quantity in his or her blood or breath, of alcohol, controlled substances, controlled substance analogs or other drugs, or any combination of alcohol, controlled substances, controlled substances, controlled substances analogs and other drugs, when requested to do so by a law enforcement officer.

Wis. Stat. § 343.305(2).

Refusal to submit to a chemical test for intoxication cannot result in revocation of operating privileges unless the person has first been adequately informed of his rights under Wis. Stat. §343.305(4); *In re Smith*, 308 Wis.2d 65, 87. Specifically, "at the time a chemical test specimen is requested ... the law enforcement officer shall read the following to the person from whom the test specimen is requested:"

You have either been arrested for an offense that involves driving or operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or drugs, or both, or you are the operator of a vehicle that was involved in an accident that caused the death of, great bodily harm to, or substantial bodily harm to a person, or you are suspected of driving or being on duty time with respect to a commercial motor vehicle after consuming an intoxicating beverage. This law enforcement agency now wants to test one or more samples of your breath, blood or urine to determine the concentration of alcohol or drugs in your system. If any test shows more alcohol in your system than the law permits while driving, your operating privilege will be suspended. If you refuse to take any test that this agency requests, your operating privilege will be revoked and you will be subject to other penalties. The test results or the fact that you refused testing can be used against you in court. If you take all the requested tests, you may choose to take further tests. You make take the alternative test that this law enforcement agency provides free of charge. You also may have a test conducted by a qualified person of your choice at your expense. You, however, will have to make your own arrangements for that test. If you have a commercial driver license or were operating a commercial motor vehicle, other consequences may result from positive test results or from refusing testing, such as being placed out of service or disqualified.

Id. A driver has improperly refused to submit to a chemical test under the implied consent statute if the law enforcement officers correctly conveys all information required by applicable statute and correctly informs the driver of the penalties he faces under Wisconsin law. *In re Smith*, 308 Wis.2d 65, 87.

When the adequacy of the implied consent warnings is at issue, the court applies the following three part test:

1. Has the law enforcement officer not met, or exceeded his or her duty under §§ 343.305(4) and 343.305(4m) to provide information to the accused driver;

2. Is the lack or oversupply of information misleading; *and*

3. Has the failure to properly inform the driver affected his or her ability to make the choice about chemical testing?

Cnty. of Ozaukee v. Quelle, 198 Wis. 2d 269, 280, 542 N.W.2d 196, 200 (Ct. App. 1995), *abrogated by In re Smith*, 2008 WI 23, 308 Wis. 2d 65, 746 N.W.2d 243 (abrogated on other grounds).

When an officer gives information in addition to the information set forth in Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4) and when the additional information is erroneous, it is the defendant's burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the erroneous additional information in fact *caused* the defendant to refuse to submit to chemical testing. *State v. Ludwigson*, 212 Wis. 2d 871, 876, 569 N.W.2d 762, 765 (Ct. App. 1997) (emphasis added). The trial court judge, "acting as the trier of fact, assesses the credibility of the two sides and determines as a matter of fact whether the erroneous extra information caused the defendant to refuse to take the test." *State v. Ludwigson*, 212 Wis. 2d 871, 876, 569 N.W.2d 762, 765 (Ct. App. 1997).

"When a party fails to produce any credible evidence as to an element, the party fails to meet his or her burden of proof as a matter of law. *State v. Ludwigson*, 212 Wis. 2d 871, 877, 569 N.W.2d 762, 765 (Ct. App. 1997) (citing *State v. Hedstrom*, 108 Wis.2d 532, 535, 322 N.W.2d 513, 515 (Ct.App.1982)). "...due regard shall be given to the

opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses." Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2).

The State concedes the first two prongs of *Quelle*. Specifically, that Sergeant DuRand exceeded his duty under §343.305(4) and that the oversupply of information was misleading.

However, the State agrees with the findings of trial court that Sharpe's "self-serving testimony at the refusal hearing that he 'definitely would have considered' submitting to a blood test was unconvincing and hardly dispositive of the issue." (R.55 at 5) (Decision and Order of the Trial Court, April 21, 2021).

The additional information provided by deputies was related to the number of Sharpe's previous operating while intoxicated convictions which is separate from Sharpe's obligation to comply with his duty under Wisconsin's implied consent law. The discussion on Sharpe's prior offenses occurred before Mr. Sharpe was read the informing the accused form.

The night of the offense, Sharpe's defense was that he was not driving, that he had "zero intentions of driving" (R.122 at 2) and that his passenger drove them to the park. (R.122 at 4). He was arguing with law enforcement about whether he was the driver, before, and after, Sergeant DuRand read him the informing the accused.

DuRand: ...Will you submit to an evidentiary chemical test of your breath?

Sharpe: No.

DuRand: No?

Sharpe: No.

DuRand: Okay.

Sharpe: No, I wasn't driving. I didn't even have the keys in the ignition. [inaudible] purposely did that. I'm not trying to drive. I did not do that. I was not trying to and I did not intend to. In fact, I did not drive here. She drove here. I had no intentions of driving. I took my keys out of the ignition [inaudible]....

(R.122 at 4). Immediately after DuRand read the informing the accused form, Sharpe did not ask any questions relating to the form, its contents, or potential penalties relating to refusing a breath or blood test, nor penalties or consequences relating to his refusal. Further, Sharpe did

not question the deputies regarding the penalties of operating while intoxicated offenses in Wisconsin.

The body camera video of that interaction, coupled with Sharpe's testimony that he "didn't want the officer to have more evidence against [him], so [he] decided to take [his] chances and not submit to further testing," (R.51 at 36) contradict his theory that but/for the erroneous information, he would have "considered" taking the test. (R.51 at 37). Sharpe knew he got caught, he knew that this was his third OWI offense, and he thought he got one past officers as they only believed it was a first offense at the time of arrest.

Regardless of the number of Sharpe's previous convictions, he was still arrested for an OWI and required to provide a sample of his breath or blood, regardless of the number of prior OWIs. The confusion by Sergeant DuRand about Sharpe's driving record had little or no bearing on his decision to submit to the breath test. Sergeant DuRand read the informing the accused form in its entirety and ultimately Sharpe refused to submit to a test as required under the law.

Sharpe cites *State v. Sutton*, 177 Wis.2d 709, 713-15, 503 N.W.2d 326 (Ct. App. 1993) (citing *State v. Wilke*, 152 Wis.2d 243, 249-250, 448 N.W.2d 13 (Ct. App. 1989), that to comply with the implied consent statute, "that the officer must not understate the penalties for either refusal to take the test or taking the test and obtaining an inappropriate test result." (*Id.*).

Sergeant DuRand did not go into the different a penalties associated with a first, second, or third offense, and no erroneous information was conveyed to Sharpe regarding the penalties. Sharpe testified he was aware that there were increasing penalties for impaired driving offenses and there is no evidence to support that law enforcement "understated the penalties" for a refusal. (R.51 at 36-37).

In weighing credibility, the trial court looks at the motivation of the person testifying and the surrounding circumstances. Here, the selfserving testimony by Sharpe does not line up with his defense the night of the incident. That night, Sharpe went with the "I wasn't driving" defense even though he was caught in a vehicle in a public park after dark, with keys in the ignition. There are no questions or comments by Sharpe to law enforcement on the penalties or consequences of refusing an evidentiary test after law enforcement went back and forth with each other in front of him on what number offense this was. Sharpe was read the informing the accused form verbatim, he answered no, and followed up with that he was not driving and someone else drove to the park.

Sharpe's self-serving testimony is not compelling and Sharpe has not met his burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the erroneous information provided by Schaeppi contributed to his refusal to submit to chemical testing as required under Wisconsin's implied consent statute. Wherefore, the State requests this Court affirm the trial court's findings and orders.

II. WISCONSIN'S IGNITION INTERLOCK DEVICE STATUTORY SCHEME IS CONSTITUTIONAL AND DOES NOT VIOLATE THE DORMANT COMMERCE CLAUSE.

A. Introduction

The Defendant-Appellant (Sharpe) claims that Wisconsin's ignition interlock device (IID) law, Wis. Stat. § 343.301, is unconstitutional, both facially and as applied to him. As described below, the IID law applies the same way to all drivers, whether they are licensed in Wisconsin or another state. Sharpe is not asking that the IID law be applied to him the same way it applies to a driver licensed in Wisconsin. He is arguing that because he is licensed in Minnesota rather Wisconsin, he should be allowed to drive in Wisconsin without an IID, even though a person licensed in Wisconsin would be required to have an IID to drive. Sharpe has not satisfied his burden of showing that the IID law is unconstitutional facially, or as applied to him and the trial court order denying his motion should be affirmed.

B. Constitutionality of Statutes and Standard of Review

When a court addresses the issue of whether a statute passes constitutional muster, the presumption is in favor of constitutionality. Respect for a co-equal branch of government demands that statutes must be presumed to be constitutional, and will not be found to be unconstitutional unless their invalidity is established beyond a reasonable doubt. *Dane County DHS v. Ponn P.*, 2005 WI 32, ¶¶ 16-

18; *State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 112, ¶¶ 11, 17 (and cases cited). A court must indulge every presumption and resolve every doubt in favor of sustaining the law. *Ponn P.*, 2005 WI 32 at ¶ 17; *Cole*, 2003 WI 112 at ¶ 11.

When faced with a claim that a statute which reflects the considered will of the people is unconstitutional, a court cannot become mired with the merits of the legislation, but must instead afford due deference to the determination of the Legislature. *State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 112, ¶ 18. The presumption of constitutionality can be overcome only if the challenging party establishes that the statute is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. *Wis. Med. Soc'y, Inc. v. Morgan*, 2010 WI 94, ¶ 37, 328 Wis. 2d 469, 787 N.W.2d 22. This presumption of constitutionality and the Sharpe's steep burden apply to both as-applied challenges and facial challenges to statutes. *State v. McGuire*, 2010 WI 91, ¶ 25, 328 Wis. 2d 289, 786 N.W.2d 227.

A facial challenge to the constitutionality of a statute cannot succeed unless the law cannot be enforced under any circumstances. *State v. Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶ 13, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63. An as-applied challenge is determined on the facts of the case. *Id.* A court "assess[es] the merits of the challenge by considering the facts of the particular case" in front of it, "not hypothetical facts in other situations." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Hamdan*, 2003 WI 113, ¶ 43, 264 Wis. 2d 433, 665 N.W.2d 785.) An as-applied challenge requires the challenge to "show that his or her constitutional rights were actually violated." *Id.*

Resolution of the issue in this case requires statutory interpretation. In interpreting a statute, a reviewing court "begins with the plain language of the statute." *State v. Dinkins*, 2012 WI 24, ¶ 29, 339 Wis. 2d 78, 810 N.W.2d 787 (citing *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110). A court "generally give[s] words and phrases their common, ordinary, and accepted meaning." *Id.* (citing *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 45). A reviewing court is to "interpret statutory language reasonably, 'to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *Id.* (citing *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46). "An interpretation that contravenes the manifest purpose of the statute is unreasonable." *Id.* (citing *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 49).

C. SHARPE HAS NOT SHOWN THAT WISCONSIN'S IID LAW IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE OR AS APPLIED TO HIM.

1. Description of Wisconsin's IID Statutes

At sentencing, Wisconsin courts are required to impose an IID order upon conviction for an OWI 2 or subsequent, and for an OWI 1 with a test of .15 BAC or above. Wis. Stat. §§ 343.301(1g)(a)1.-2. Sentencing courts may not refuse to order an IID if it is required under the statute. The IID order applies to the person's Class D operating privilege only. Wis. Stat. § 343.301(1g)(am)1. The court's order has two parts: 1) The person's Class D privilege is restricted to allow the person to operate only vehicles that are equipped with an IID; and 2) Each motor vehicle registered to the person must have an IID installed in it, unless a vehicle is specifically exempted by the court. Wis. Stat. § 343.301(1g)(am)1.

The IID restriction goes into effect on the date the order is issued. Wis. Stat. 343.301(2m)(a). Typically this means that as soon as the defendant leaves the courtroom:

- 1) The defendant may not drive a vehicle that is not installed with an IID; and
- The defendant must install an IID in every vehicle registered in their name, or seek an exemption under Wis. Stat. § 343.301(1m); and
- 3) The defendant is subject to a .02 BAC restriction. Wis. Stat. § 340.01(46m)(c).

The minimum length for an IID order is 12 months, and the maximum is the same as the maximum revocation period for the offense of conviction. Wis. Stat. § 343.301(2m). The person is subject to the IID restriction starting on the date of the order. However, the time period for the IID order imposed by the court does not begin until the DOT grants the person a regular or occupational license. Wis. Stat. § 343.301(2m). The end date is calculated by starting from the date on which the DOT grants the person a regular or occupational license in Wisconsin and adding the length of the order. This means that until a

person completes the requirements and obtains a regular or occupational license, the IID time period imposed by the court does not start.

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